
51ST CoNGRESS, } HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES. 
1st Session. {

REPORT 
No. J083. 

J. G. FELL, EDWARD HOOPES, AND GEORGE BURNHAM. 

MARCH 26, 1890.-Committe(l to tho Committee of the ·whole House and ordered to 
be printed. 

Mr. SHIVELY, from the Committee on Indian Affain~, Fmbmitted the 
following 

REPORT: 
[To accompany H. R. 20i:l4.] 

The Committee on Indian Affairs, to whom was referred the bill 
(B. R. 2084) for the relief of J. G. Fell, Edward Hoopes, and George 
Burnham, having had the same under consideration, report as follows: 

This is a claim of some years' stanfling. The memorialists, men of 
good repute, of Philadelphia, show by numerous affidavits of persons 
of good character that they invested in the purchase of goods, supplies, 
machinery, wagon trains, and necessary outfit, and in the employment 
of men in the erection of buildings for store-rooms, business offices, 
dwelling-house, mining machinery, and material for said buildings, a 
certain sum of money. The memorialists likewise show that they bad 
received assurances of protection to their enterprise in Arizona Terri­
tory from the military authority of the Government in that Territory 
before investing their money. Such assurance was contained in the 
following communication: 

HEADQU.-\RTERS DEPARTMENT OF NEW MEXICO. 
Santa 1!'8, N.Mex., July 11, 1864. 

MY DEAR SIR: In answer to your verbal question as to the safety of carrying on 
mining operations hereafter in Arizona, I will say I have already inaugurated a cam­
paign against the Apache Indians that will result in their complete subjugation, and 
should you induce friends in the East to join you in erecting a quartz-mill in the newly­
discovered gold regions near Fort ·whipple, the enterprise will be fully protected by 
tbe military. I am well assured that building a quartz·-mm there, and developing 
some one of the rich mines, will result in such benefit to the Government as to amply 
compensate for the protection given. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, 

GEORGE H. VICKROY, Esq. 

JAMES H. CARLETON, 
Brigadier-General, Commanding. 

They further show that, on account of the failure of protection re· 
peatedly promised, but never given, their mill, machinery, houses, 
wagons, and supplies were destroyed, and their stock captured and 
driven off by the Apache Indians in Arizona Territory, between August 
1, 1865, and July 9, 1869. 

'.rhey show that, in accordance with Hule 4, adopted by the Secretary 
of the Interior, under the act of May 29, 1872, and estimating the price 
of the property where destroyed instead of where purchased, in accord· 
ance with said rule, their losses would be greatly increased. 
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They further state that on the 2d day of January, 1873, they made 
application to the Interior Department for compensation for said losses, 
and after a thorough examination, the following reports were made: 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, 
OFFICE OF INDIAN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, D. C., January 7, 1873. 
SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by reference from the Depart­

menton the 2d instant, of a letter from George H. Vickroy, dated 2d ultimo, submit­
ting a claim of the Walnut Grove Mining Company of Arizona 'l'erritory, on account 
of depredations alleged to have been committed by Apache Indians at various times 
from August, 1865, to July 9, 1869, the loss being stated at $292,800. 

The papers in the case have been carefully examined in this office, and the conclu­
sion that the claim is not without merit, is justified, it is thought, by the sworn state. 
menta of parties who were identified with the operations of the company as employes, 
and who were personally cognizant, in most instances, cf the facts stated by them. 
What amount of loss the company actually sustained by the direct acts of the Indians 
is a question difficult of satisfactory reply or determination. The depredations were 
numerous, and the task of harmonizing the evidence of different parties as to the 
particular facts in each and every instance seems to be imvracticable, especially with 
reference to the loss of mules or ''animals." Some of the items in the claim, such as 
''stock of goods and provisions, $32,000," are without the support of sufficient proof, 
and in others the valuation is manifestly excessive. 

It will be seen by the testimony of G. H. Vickroy, the first superintendent of thE' 
company, that the outfit purcllased by him, consisting of a 20-stamp quartz-mill, 40 
horse-power engine, 26 wagons, 268 mules and harness, provisions, tools, etc., cost 
about $77,000. With this amount much material apparently is procured. Referring 
to the schedule of property (accompanying the claim), which, it is alleged, was either 
captured or destroyed by the Indians, it will be observed that tho item of'' 20-stamp 
quart-mill burned is for the sum of $118,000." A reasonable doubt arises as to this 
being the real value of that particular piece of property, for the presumption is that 
the machinery in the mill was the most important part of it, the cost of which may 
be estimated by taking Mr. Vickroy's statement as to the$77,000 expended for quartz. 
mill and other property, and by allowing for cost of transportation. The charges for 
houses destroyed are regarded as exorbitant and without support of sufficient proof; 
and other charges, which should have been itemized, or an invoice of the same fur­
nished, are deemed to be inadmissible, from the fact that they are not so itemized; 
in addition, they are not well sustained by proof. 

I respectfully submit that th~ allegation of the depredations having been com­
mitted as set forth in the claim is sufficiently proved, anQ. recommend that the case 
be submitted to Congress for its action. 

In this connection it is proper to remark that1 under the limitation provided in the 
seventeenth section of the law of June 30, 1834, in regard to claims for depredations 
by Indians, the claim under consideration, not having been presented within three 
years, is barred. 

The letter of Mr. Vickroy and papers submitted by him are herewith returned. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

. H. R. CLUM, 

Ron. B. R. COWEN, 
Acting Secretary of the Interior. 

Acting Commissioner. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,· 
Washington, D. C., January 14, 1873. 

Sm: I have the honor to transmit herewith, as ·required by the seventh section of 
the act making appropriations for the Indian Department, approved May 29, 1872, 
the claim of the Walnut Grove Mining Company of Arizona, amounting to $292,800, 
on account of depredations committed by Apache Indians between August 1, 1865, 
and July 9, 1869. 

The seventeenth section of the trade and intercourse act of 30th of June, 1834, re­
quires that application for compensation for depredations shall be made to the proper 
superintendent, agent, or subagent within three years after the commission of the 
injury, otherwise the claim shall be barred. 

The peculiar condition of affa,irs in Arizona, it is alleged, prevented a complian~ 
with the requirements of said section. 
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From an examination of the papers, this Department is satisfied that the claim pos­
sesses merit, and it is respectfully submitted with the recommendation that it receive 
the favorable consideration of Congress. 

Very respectfully, etc., 

Hon .. JAMES G. BLAINE, 
Speaker of the House of Representatives. 

B. R. COWEN, 
Acting Secretary. 

The act of June 30, 1834, referred to by the Secretary of the Interior 
in his report, requires that application for indemnity shall be presented 
to the superintendent, Indian agent, or subagent within whose jurisdic­
tion the tribe committing the depredations belongs, and the reference 
in said report that the peculiar condition of affairs in Arizona prevented 
a compliauce with the requirements of said law means, as stated by the 
memorialists, under oath, that there was no officer in Arizona before 
whom their claims could have been presented within the specified time; 
and the law of May 29, 1872, provides that the Secretary of the Interior 
shall prepare and publish rules and regulations for the presentation of 
claims; and the Secretary did not promulgate rules in pursuance of said 
law until July 13, 1872. Therefore, there being no officer in Arizona to 
whom the claim could be presented within the time specified, before the 
passage of the act of May 29, 1872, and the claim having been presented 
Jauuary 2, 1873, and the Secretary not having promulgated the rules 
until July 13, 1872, your committee submits that the claimants can not 
be considered in laches. 

Your committee calls the attention of Congress to the fact that at 
the time this enterprise was undertaken the Territory of Arizona bad 
been recently organized, and the great desire and anxiety of the in­
habitants of the sparsely-settled country and of the officers of the Ter­
ritory, civil and military, was expressed in its favor; that the mines 
were known to be fabulously rich, and, as it was confidently believed, 
that the introduction and successful prosecution of such an enterprise 
would induce a large emigration, rapid growth, and development of the 
coun~ry. And your committee calls the attention of Congress to the 
fact that at this time the Territory was under martial law; that Gen­
eral Carleton, then in command, exercised supreme control over that 
whole country, and was the recognized authority there. He made war 
and peace with Indian tribes, built military posts and forts, and carried 
on the whole machinery of the civil and military government, and every 
act of his was indorsed and approv€d by the General Government, and 
while thus exercising supreme control he announced officially that he 
bad inaugurated a campaign against the Apache Indians that would 
result in their complete subjugation, and this enterprise should be fully 
protected by the military; and they made this large expenditure ot 
money, and went to Arizona to prosecute this grea.t enterprise at the 
invitation of the Territorial government, and with this guaranty of 
protection. But instead of protecting this large property, as he prom­
ised to do, and which be bad a perfect right to do, and should have 
done, the Indians were permitted to kill the employes and to destroy 
the property. 

Your committee, after a careful examination of the various items and 
the gross amount claimed, believe and state that they are fully sustained 
l>y the proof, all statements pertaining to them being made under oath, 
and made by persons cognizant and living witnesses of the facts stated 
by them; that the proof of items reported by the Commissioner as in­
tmfficient has subsequently been supplied, so that yonr committee are 
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satisfied that the proof of the losses sustained is ample; but after the 
expenditure of the $77,000, as shown by Mr. Vickroy, it must~ have be­
come evident by the failure of the military authorities to furnish troops 
tllat the company would not have the military protection that had been 
guarantied, and all subsequent outlay was made by the company at its 
own peril; and therefore your committee can only recommend the pay­
ment of $77,000, notwithstanding the evidence shows that the com­
pany lost $292,000. 

On a rigid examination of the case your committee are unable to find 
any dereliction on the part of the company, or where they were at fault; 
and your committee considers it unjust to the claimants to refuse com­
pensation for the losses sustained, and therefore recommend the pas­
sage of the accompanying bill appropriating $77,000 in full satisfaction 
of claimant's demand. 

APPENDIX. 

Memorial of the Walnut Grove Gold Mining Company. 

DECEMBER 8, 1873.-Referred to the Committee on Claims and ordered to be printed. 

To the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Cang1'eB8 
assembled: 

Your memorialists, the Walnut Grove Gold Mining Company of Arizona, by the 
undersigned, their trustees, respectfully represent : That during the years 1864, 18651 
1866, 18()7, 1868, and 1869, they were engaged in business at the Bully Bueno mine, 
17 miles from Prescott, the capital of Arizona; that they invested large E-ums of mo­
ney in the purchase of goods, supplies, machinery, and necessary outfit, wagon trains, 
and in the employment of men in the erection of buildings for store-rooms, business 
officAs, dwelling-houses, mining machinery, and in the purchase of material for tJaid 
buildings, and in opening mines and working the same, amounting in the aggregate 
to $426,000. 

Your memorialists were induced to engage in this enterprise by the officers of the 
United States Government, civil and military, and by the resident inhabitants, all of 
whom expressed a deep solicitude for the development of the country and the aug­
mentation of the population and wealth. 

Your memorialists were informed by the said officers and inhabitants that they could 
safely make said investments, and engage in said business, notwithstanding the pre­
vious unsettled condition of the country on account of repeated Indian depredations, 
as tho country was at that time and would continue to be under the complete pro­
tection and control of the United States Army, the commanders of the troops volun­
tarily offering your memorialists, as an inducement to engage in this business, ample 
military protection, agreeing to erect a fort in the vicinity of and contiguous to these 
mines, to ganison the same, and to furnish guards for the defense and protecti~n of 
your memorialists, their property and employes. 

Your memorialists further state that, in tho absence of said inducements and prom­
ises of ample military protection, they would not have made said investments, or any 
part thereof. They further state that, on account of the failure of said officers to fulfill 
said promises, repeatedly made, your memorialists lost, by depredations committed. 
by Apache Indians residing in Arizona, a large part of said property, a number of 
their employes were killed, and their business terminated on July 9, 1869, completely 
destroying the enterprise in which your memorialists bad thus been induced to en-

g1~~r memorialists further state that, in this connection, they reiterate their state­
mont heretofore made December 27, 1871, marked" N." 

Your memorialists further state that, on the 2d day of January, 1873, they applied 
to the Department of the Interior for compensation for said losses, to which, undet" 
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the laws of tbe United States and in justice, they believed they were entitled. The 
claim then submitted for adjudication was as follows, to wit: 

Schedule of property belonging to the Walnut GJrove Mining Company captured or destroyed 
by Apache Indians in Arizona. 

1865. . 
Aug. 1. At Navajo Springs, 26 mules, at $200 ..•.•.................•••.• 
Aug. 23. At Mule Creek, 12 mules, at $200 ..............••••....•••.•.•• 
Sept. 2. At Bully Bueno Mine, 23 beeves, at $40 ..•......••..•.•.....•..• 
Sept. 4. At Pine Flat, 8mules,at$200 .•••...••.....•.........•....••••• 
Sept. 4. At Pine Fla_t, 1 'Yagon .......•.........•••••.......••...•••••• 
Sept. 14. At Hualapai Sprmgs, 11 mules, at $200 ........................ . 
Sept. 15. At Beall Springs, 5 mules, at $200 .... : . ................•...... 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, 2,300 pounds bacon, at 50 cents .••...•••• 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, 9 mules, at $200 ........................ . 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, 3 wagons, at $2i:l0 ..........•••...•....••• 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, 23 sets of harness, at $30 •••.•••••....•.• 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, 11 cases of boots, at $li0 .••••••......••.. 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, groceries and provisions .•••••.•.•••...•. 
Oct. 4. At Bully Bueno Mine, chemicals .............................. . 
Nov. 15 to Dec. 1~. In the vicinity of Prescott, 100 mules, at $200 ....... . 

1866. 
Feb. 9. 1 house burned at mine .••••.••.••.•••••.•.•••••••••••••••••••• 
Feb. 9. 7 wagons burned at mine, at $280 ............................. . 
Feb. 9. ·17 mules captured at mine, at$200 .•.•••••••.••••••••••••••.•.• 
Feb. 9. Supply of provisions ......................................... . 
Feb. 9 to March 1. On Mojave road, 19 mules, at$200 ................. . 
Oct. -. At Agua Frio, 40 mules, at $200 ..•••.....•...•••..•••.•...••••• 
Oct. -. At Agua Fr~o, 4 wagons,_at $280 .............................. . 
Oct. -. At Agua Fr1o, merchandise .•••••..••••.•••••.••••.••.••••••••• 

1867. 

$5,200 00 
2,400 00 

9-20 00 
1,600 00 

280 00 
2,200 00 
1,000 00 
1.150 00 
1~t300 00 

740 00 
790 00 
660 00 

2,600 00 
1,200 00 

20,000 00 

1,200 00 
1,120 00 
3,400 00 
1,600 00 
3,800 00 
8,000 00 
1,120 00 
7,500 00 

Aug.-. At Bully Bueno Mine, 73 mules, at $250 ....... ••.• ..•••• ....... 18,250 00 
1~68. 

·Mar. 2. On Hassayampa Creek, 11 horses, at $100 .••• .••••• •••• •••• .... 1,100 00 
1869. 

July 9. 20-stamp quartz-mill burned ................................. . 
July 9. Saw-mill burned .••••...••.•••••••.•..••.•••••••.••••••••••••• 
July 9. 1 house burned ••••••••.•..•••...•••.•••••••.•.•••. ··:-· ••••••• 
July 9. 3 houses burned, at $5,000 .................................... . 
July 9. 2 houses burned, at $3,000 ................................... .. 
July 9. Stock of goods and provisions ................................ . 
July 9. Chemicals and assaying apparatus ............................ . 
July 9. 7 mules and horses, at $100 .................................. .. 
July 9. Household furniture ......................................... . 

118,000 00 
17,000 00 
11,000 00 
15,000 00 
6,000 00 

32,000 00 
12,000 00 

100 no 
.2, 000 00 

Total. . • • • • . • • • . • • • . . . • . . . • . • • • . . . . . • • • . • • • • • • • • . . . • • . . . 303, 330 00 
From this amount, however, the~e should be a deduction for those parts 

of the mill and machinery that hav13 been saved, as stated in letter of 
September 11, 1869, ofl. C. Curtis, herewith, to wit ................... 10,530 00 

Leaving a balance of ............................................. 292,800 00 

In connection with and in support of this claim for compensation your memorialists 
submitted to said Department such proof as was at the time attainable, a copy of 
which is hereto appended, marked A toM, inclusive. After a thorough examination 
of this claim and the evidence then submitted, Hon. B. H,. Cowen, acting Secretary of 
the Interior, on the 14th day of January, 1873, reported the case with the testimony 
to the House of Representatives, recommending ''that it receive the favorable consid­
eration of Congress." •Said report, and that of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 
are hereto appended, Nos. 1 and 2. 

Your memorialists further state t.hat at the date of the presentation of their said 
claim to the Department of the Interior for settlement, they were unable to make a 
complete and satisfactory statement of their said severa,l losses as aforesaid, on ac­
count of the destruction of their books and papers by fire when their said property 
was burned by said Indians, and t·heir inability to find mauy of their employes, who 
had left Arizona for different parts of the country, their whereabouts unknown to 
your memorialists, and their inability to avail themselves of the evidence of other . 
parties cognizant of the facts. They have since learned that they greatly unclerstated 
the actual value of the property thus destroyed; for example, the claim for mules 
captured and killed, at the average value of $200; whereas your memorialists have 
since learned their actual cost at the several places of purchase to be as follows : 100 
mules bought of S. S. Grant, at Saint Louis, December 7, 1864, at $200 each, and 
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January 26, 1865, 168 mules, at $250 each; 6 mules bought of Samuel Bartlett, a' 
Denver, Colu., at $250 each; 72 mules bought of Harvey Boren, at San Bernardino, 
CaL., at $250 each in gold, and 46 mules bought of Dr. Clark, at Los Angeles, Cal., at 
$200 each in gold. 

The va1ues of merchandise, provisions, chemicals, tools, &c., are stated at the origi­
nal wholesale cash price in Philadelphia, Saint Louis, Denver, and San FmnciiSco, 
where they were purchased. Your memorialists, however, are justly entitled to the 
actual value thereof at the places where the eame were destroyed or taken. 

This standard of value has been adopted by the Department of the Interior in the 
adjustment of claims. (See rule 4 of regulations hereto attached, m~rked "No. 3.") 
According to this just and equitable standard of valuation your memorialists' claim 
is as follows: 

In the item of mules lost, the whole amount claimed, $67,650, is less than cost, 
whereas the amount for which we coulcl have sold said mules, $400 each, in Arizona, 
and which we were offered, would be $128,000, for which we would be entitled tore­
cover, under rule 4 above cited, an additional amount of $60,3f>O. 

In the item of wagons, we paid L. Espenschirtt, in Saint Louis, $280 each, and 
claimed for them $280 each, when they would have sold readily for $500 each in Ari­
zona. Under rule 4 we would be entitled to an additional amount of $3,:300. In the 
item of bacon, bought in Denver at 50 cents per pound, as stated, it should, under 
rule 4, be charged at $1 per pound, the selling price at Prescott, making a difference 
in favor of your memorialists of $1,150. 

The harness is charged at $30 per set, the cost price at Moyer & Brothers, Philadel­
phia, where purchased, was worth, where destroyed, $75 per set, making a difference 
in om· favor of $1,075. 

The item of eleven cases of boots, $60 per case, their cost price in Phi !adelphia, 
would have readily sold, where destroyed, at $1.44 per case, making a difference in 
our favor, under said rule, of $924. 
. Groceries and provisions are estimated at cost where purchased, $36,200; whereas 
they would have sold at the time and place they were clestroyed or captnrecl for at 
least double their cost, making a difference in our favor, under said rule, of $36,200. 
In the item of chemicals, $1,~00 is charged, which were worLh at least $3,000 when 
destroyed, a difference in our favor of $1,800. Tho item of merchandise de;jtroyed at 
Agua Frio, for which is charged $7,500, we have since ascertained cost us in San Fran­
cisco, where purchased, $10,000, and were worth when destroyed at least $~0,000; so 
that in this item we are entitled, under said rule, to $12,500 additional; making in all 
$117,299 in excess of what is already stated as our claim. 

The amount of our losses sustained should therefore be stated at $410,099, instead 
of $29'2,800. 

In relation to the points of objection raist:'d in the reports of the Acting Commis­
sioner of Indian Affairs and Secretary of the Interior, above referred to, your memo­
rialists beg leave to state: 

1st. That they were unable to present their claim for adjustment within three years 
from the date of said depredations, as required by the law cited by them, on account 
of the unsettled condition of the country, the destruction of their books and papers, 
and the dispersion of their employes to parts unknown, and also on account of there 
being no officerin Arizona before whom their claims could have been presented within 
the time specified. 

2d. The objection raised as to the allowance of $32,000 for stock of goods and pro­
visions being "without the support of suffieient proof" your memorialists believe is 
now removed by the introduction of the affidavit of Edward Hoopes, hereto appended 
and marked "R,11 and reference to tho affidavits of G. H. VIckroy, marked "A," 
Thomas H. Gibbons, marked "D," and E. W. Coffin, marked "l''·" 

The Commissioner's second point of objection is to the allowance of $118,000 for 
20-stamp quartz-mill burned, and a doubt suggested by him as to the real valne of 
that particular piece of property. We will state that, in addition to the $77,000 re­
ferred to by him as the amount expended by Mr. Vickroy, our :first snpe1·intendent, 
we subsequently furnished him the following sums, which were expended in prose­
cuting our said enterprise: 

January, 1864-Clark & Stone, Leavenworth ... ·--·········--··--··----·· 
April, 1865-Kuntz Brothers, Denver ..•. ·-----------·--·-·--.---------·-· 
October, 1865-James Tuttle, Prescott-----····--··--··-·----·----··---··· 
February, 1866-W. H. Hardy, Hardyville .. ·-·--··----···-····-·--··-·--·. 
June, 1866-Hickox & Spear, San Francisco .. ·--·------·----· .. ·---··--·· 
February, 1867-From company in Philadelphia ........ -·-··---·--··---·-
:February, 1868-Hickox & Spear, San Francisco .••.••••. - •• -••. -.-------. 

$12,000 
5,000 
8,700 

10,000 
14,700 
12,000 
30,000 

'92,4~ 
Add to this the first amount furnished .••••• -~···· ......... ~ •••••••• -~···· 77, 00() 

Making in all furnished Vickroy ••••••••••••••• n••-- •••• •••••• •••• 169_ 400 



~}"~,:ttq,ner"eqlbje•~Stioa to the charge for h,ouee dell•n.:•~ a'llei1Dfhii00he .nJ-la 
not suflieiently supported by proof, me~Ji)(lrii~Iiltf;J·~~ 

removed by the additional proof now submitted, to wit, liJHI ·alllltu•v 

aen, marked "T," and John B. Stack, marked" W." 
The Commi111ioner'a objection to other charles, which he says "should have­

Ltemized, o:r an invoice of the same furnished, your memorialists believe ought 
to be regarded as conclusive against them on that account. 

The imp0111ibility of furnishing an itemized a.ocouut or invoice of such prcl~~y, 
denly destroyed, without notice or waru1ng, by the incendiariee, in 
goode, wares, and merchandise in store, which were being depleted by 
plenished by purchases from time to time, after the complete deetructio~ of their 
Slld papers, will readily be seen. 

Your memorialists, therefore, think it would be a grievous hardship to be oOIDP41»lt~_~:~• 
to 1088 the value, amounting to a large sum in the aggreg-ate, on account of 
poaaibility of procuring such invoice or itemized aoeount, when they-ere able to 
sent, aa they have done and now do, the best attainable-evidence showing the afllml!i0: 
gate value with reasonable certainty. 

Your memorialist& further state that at the time of all said depredations ~:::;::;;;~~~ 
they were lawfully within the limit.a of the Territory of Arizona and o 
counties, or traveling along its public highways, and that their property 
enumerated and referred to were not situated upon any Indian land or le.l~er.FAtiOIL--,1~ 
and that the said Indians were at "mity with the Upited Statee. 

Your memorialists further state that they committed no offense agaill8t 'Gb4UIH,{l 
way gave cause for molestation ; that they used mote l'DIW-~~Jna~ .. ~ 

,~·•, , ..... , -.u•"' diligen«:~t~ . in guarding their pro~rQ', and that the &aid 
oanletlfll81!11t or tault of '30ilf tne~IDOJ:ia1Jiali8 ~·J~~~"! 

Before me, the subscriber a notaey ublfo for the Commonwealth 
Wtiding in the city of Philadelphia, personally appeared J. lillltnJ~ba:m 
named, who, bling duly affirmed according to Iaw, did depoee and aay that 
mont to which'lle had subscribed waajuat and true, as he.. verily believes. 

Subscribed and amrmed before me this 12th day of August, A. D. 1873. 
[SEAL.] JNO. A. BELL, 

NofMJ~ 
COMHONWBALTH 0 .. Pii::NNSYl.V ~ 

Otty of Pk,latlelpltio, ,. : 
PeJ:"BOJu.tlly a;ppeared before the subscriber, a notary public of tlle ColiDJ'IIiOU,Iff!llllt 

· - .& ..... IMD_.,lvanaa, residing in the Oity of P~phia, tlie wlthiD-Dalllecl &ecW&4._fiJ 
.Bep.~-• 



8 J. G. FELL AND OTHERS. 

bam and Edward Hoopes, and who, on being severally affirmed according to law, sa:y 
that the above statements subscribed to by them are just and true according to thell 
best knowledge in the premises. 

Witness my hand and official seal this 13th day of August, 1873. 
[SEAL.] ROBERT HUTCHINSON, 

Rota1'1J Public. 

No. 1. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, 
Washington, D. C., January 14, 187:i. 

SIR: I have the honor to transmit herewith, as required by the seventh section of thfl 
act making appropriations fo: ~he Indian Departm~nt, approved .May 29, 1872, the 
claim of the Walnut Grove Mmmg Company, of Anzona, amountmg to $~92,800, on 
account of depredations committed by Apache Indians between August 1, 1865, and 
July 9, 1869. · 

The seventeenth section of the trade and intercourse act of the 30th of June, 1834 .. 
requires that application for coTPpensati?n ~or depredations shall be made ~o ~he propel~ 
superintendent, agent, or sub-agent, w1thm three years after the commissiOn of thfl 
injury, or otherwise the claim shall be barred. 

The peculiar condition of affairs in Arizona, it is alleged, prevented a compliance 
wit.h the requirements of said section. 

From an examination of the papers, this Department is satisfied that the claim pos­
sesses merit, and it is respectfully submitted with the recommendation that it receive 
the favorable consideration of Congress. 

Very respectfully, &c., · 
B. R. COWEN, 

.Actina Secretary. 
Hon. JAMES G. BLAINE, 

Speaker of the House of .Rep1·esentatives. 

N_o. 2. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, OFFICE OF INDIAN AFFAIRS, 
Washington, D. G., January 7, 1S73. 

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by reference from the Department, 
on the 2d instant, of a letter from George H. Vickroy, dated 2d ultimo, submitting a 
claim of the Walnut Grove Mining Company, of Arizona Territory, on account of dep­
redatiOns alleged to have been committed by Apache Indians at various times, from 
Augnst, 1865, to July 9, 1869, the loss being stated at $292,SOO. 

Tl10 papers in the case have been carefully exa.mined in this office, and the conclu­
sion reached that the claim is not without merit, is justified, it is thought, by the 
sworn statements of parties who were identified with the operations of the company as 
mployes, and who were personally cognizant, in most instances, of the facts stated 

1J~ them. What amount of loss the company actually sustained by the direct aots of 
tl1e Indians is a question difficult of satisfactory reply or determination. The depre· 
elations were numerous, and the task of harmonizing the evidence of different parties, 
a.s to the particular facts in each and every instance, seems to be impracticable, espe­
cially with reference to the loss of mules or'' animals." Some of the items in the claim. 
snch as "stock of goods and provisions, $32,000," are without the support of sufficient 
proof, ancl in others the valuation is manifestly excessive. It will be seen by the tes­
timony of G. H. Vickroy, the first superintendent of the company, that the outfit pur­
clHHlf'd by him, consisting of a 20-stamp quartz-mill, 40 horse-power engine, 26 wagons, 
26f! nmles and harness, provisions, tools, "&c.," costabout$77,000. With this amount 
mnch material apparently is procured. Referring to the schedule of property (accom. 
ranying the claim), which, it is alleged, was either captured or destr8yed by the In. 
dians, it will be observed that the item of "20-stamp quartz-mill burned" is forth~ 
Eum of $118,000. A reasonable doubt arises as to this being the real value of tha1. 
)•articular piece of property, for the presumption is that the machinery in the mill 
\vas the most important part of it, the cost of which may be estimated by taking Mr. 
Vickroy's statement as to the $77,000 expended for quartz-mill and other property, 
and by allowing for costs of transportation. The chargeR for houses destroyed are 
rcg~rded as exorbitant and without support of sufficient proof; and other charges 
which should have been itemized, or an invoice of the same:furnished

1 
are deemed t~ 
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be inadmissible, from the fact that they are not so itemi~ed; in additiOn, they are 
not well sustained by :proof. 

I respectfully P.1 tbmit that the allegation of the depredations having been com­
mitted, as set for.~!! in the claim, is sufficiently proven, and recommend that the case 
be submitted to Congress for its action. In this connection it is proper to remark 
that, under the limitation provided in the seventeenth section of the law of .June 30, 
18.14, in regard to claims for depredations by Indians, the claim under consideration, 
not having been presented within three years, is barred. 

The letter of Mr. Vickroy, and papers submitted by him, are herewith returned. 
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,. 

Hon. B. R. CoWEN, 
Acting Secret4rJ oft~ Interior. 

No.3. 

H. R. CLUM, 
4cting Commi8aioner. 

4. When the application, documents, and proofs shall be received, by the superintend­
ent of Indian affairs, Indian agent, or sub-agent, said officer shall carefully investigate 
the case; shall ascertain, by inquiry of reliable persons, from advertised prices, or 
otherwise; whether the prices fixed by the claimant upon the articles of property men­
tioned in the claim are just and fair a61 compared with the market prices ruling at the 
time in the State or Territory in which the depredation was committed, with due allow­
ance for enhancement of price by reason of transportation; and where it is possible to 
procure it, said officer shall, if deemed advisable, take testimony as to the credibility 
of the claimant, or of any person testifying in his behalf; and also .respecting the 
statement set forth in the applicaiion, documents, and proofs submitted by the claim­
ant. Upon the performance of this duty, the superintendent, Indian agent, or sub­
agent will, without necessary delay, present the case to the proper nation or tribe 
assembled in council, according to the custom of such nation or tribe, and after fully 
explaining it to them, be will then and there demand satisfaction for the claimant. 
If within a reasonable time the nation or tribe shall not have complied with such 
demand, the fact of the depreda1,1on by some of their people being admitted in such 
council, or if they deny the cbargr. as made and peremptorily refuse to render any sat­
isfaction, the superintendent, agent, or sub-agent will in such case submit a report of 
the proceedings bad, together with all the papers, to the Commissioner of Indian Af­
fairs. Such report shall state whether the Indians in council recognized, remembered, 
and admitted the depredation charged; and if so, bow far, and with what particularity 
the allegations of the claimant respecting such depredations were borne out by the 
recollections and acknowledgments of the Indians in reference thereto. 

5. The Commissioner of Indian Affairs will cause all claims recei'\"ed by him as 
above noticed to be duly registered and filed in his office, and shall, as soon thereafter 
88 practicable, cause the same to be carefully examined, and then forwarded, with a 
report of his views and opinion in each case, to the Secretary of the Interior for the 
action of the Department. 

DEPARTMENT OF TBE INTERIOR, July 13, 1872. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
Dist1·ict of Columbia: 

No.4. 

C. DELANO, Secretar1J. 

I, JohnS. Watts, a resident of Santa 1!'~, Territory of New Mexico, since 20th June, 
A. D. 1851, by occupation an attorney and counselor-at-law, and fifty-six years of age, 
upon my oath state: That I was well acquainted with the situation and government 
of the Territory of New Mexico, and th01~e invested with supreme military command 
of the Dey•artment. of New Mexico. Upon the entrance of General James H. Carle­
ton into New Mexico, the confederate troops having retreated -from New Mexico, the 
Department of New Mexico, then including Arizona, and El Paso County, Texas, was 
placed under the command of Brigadier-General James H. Carleton, and martial law 
was enforced in said department by General J. H. Carleton, as it bad been by his pre. 
clecessor, General Canby, and military authority was supreme in New Mexico during 
the time of t.he war of the rebellion and while General J. H. Carleton was in command 
ohaid department. 

I further state, that under date of July 11th, 1864, when General J. H. Carleton ad­
clreesed George H. Vickroy on the subject of protection to his proposed purchase u4 

• 
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transportation to Arizona, near Prescott, of a quartz-mill and engine and mining sop. 
plies, he was then the military commander of the Department of New Mexico, includ­
ing Arizona, New Mexico, and El Paso County, Texas; and I should have regarded 
the letter of General James H. Carleton, a copy of which is hereto attached, marked 
as Exhibit A, as a full and sufficient stipulation for the secure and efficiel!lt protection 
of my life and property, should I have engaged in a mining venture such as was 
undertaken by the Walnut Grove Mining Company, under the supcrinteudency of 
George H. Vickroy, and should have felt that, on arriving at my destination in Arizona 
and on the route there, that the fullest and most perfect protection would attend such 
an important, expensive, and useful enterprise. And fm·ther saith not. 

JOHN S. WATTS. 
DisTRICT oF CoLUMBIA, 

County of Washington, ss: 
Sworn to and subscribed before me, this 26th day of February, 1873. 
[SEAL.] JAMES .A.. TAIT, 

Notary Public. 

Copy of General J. H. Carleton's letter. 

HEADQUARTERS, DEPARTMENT OF NEW Mll;XICO, 
SanteFe, N. M., July 11, 1864. 

GEORGE H. VICKROY, Esq.: 
MY DEAR SIR: In answer to your verbal question as to the safety of carrying on 

mining operations hereafter in Arizona, I will say I have already inaugurated a cam­
paign against the Apache Indians that will result in their complete subjugation, and 
should you induce friends in the East to join you in erecting a quartz-mill in the newly 
discovered gold regions near Fort Whipple, the enterprise will be fully protected by 
the military. I am well assured that building a quartz-mill there, and developing 
some one of the rich mines, will re!!ult in such benefit to the Government as to amply 
compensate for the protection given. 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, 
JAMES H. CARLETON, 

Brigadier-General, Commanding. 

WASHINGTON, D. C., December 2, 1872. 
SIR: I have the honor to submit the following sworn statement and accompanying 

evidence concerning the claim of the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, of Arizona, 
in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by you, July 13, 1872, under 
the terms of the seventh section of the act of Congress making appropriations for the 
Indian Department, approved May 29, 1872. By reference to affidavits marked .A., B, 
C, D, E, F, G, H, I, K, L, and M, and the statement of the trustees of said company 
marked N, and schedule of property destroyed and stolen marked 0, and letters marked 
P & Q, you will see that the last loss sustained by our company was prior to the time 
within which the above-mentioned rules and regulations require such claims to be 
presented to the superintendent, agent, or sub-agent, for indemnity. 

The depredations were committed between August 1, 1865 and July 9, 1869, and 
were committed by di1ferent bands of Apaches and at different times and places. 

At the time these losses were sustained by us there was no superintendent of Indian 
affairs, agent, or sub-agent, having jurisdiction or charge of the nation, tribe, or band 
to which these depredators belonged. 

Although the Indians who committed these depredations are now within the pre­
sumed jurisdiction of the United Sta.tes superintendent of Indian affairs, they are not 
within the actual jurisdiction or charge of any superintendent, agent, or snb-ag~nt, 
and it is therefore impossible for any such officers to investigate this case, or to present 
the case to the nation, tribe, or band assembled in council, or otherwise, as prescribed 
by section 4 of said rules and regulations. 

The depredations were committed within the Territory of Arizona, and not upon 
any Indian lands or reservations. 

I therefore most respectfully submit this case to your favorable consideration, and 
ask that you transmit the same to Congress, with such recommendation as, iu your 
judgment, the evidence justifies. · 

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
GEO. H. VICKROY, 

Snperintendenf. 
Subscribed and sworn before me this 2d day of December, J.872. 
[SEAL.J J. McKENNEY, 

Notary Publiq. 
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A. 

Statement of George H. Vickroy. 

I went to Arizona in 1863, and engaged in mining. During the next year I secured 
several valuable mines, and was much urged and encouraged to bring a mill and the 
necessary machinery to develop them, as at this time there was no mill in the Terri­
tory. Needing more capital to render the enterprise successful, I started East to pro­
cure it; but as the settlers in that section were constantly harassed by the Indians, 
I determined that it would be dangerous to risk much money there unless I could ob­
tain some guarantee of military protection. 

In July, 1864, with a view to obtain information on this point, I found General James 
H. Carleton (then in command of New Mexico and Arizona) at Santa Fe, who, in re­
sponse to my request, addressed to me a communication, saying that he had inaugu­
rated a campaign against the Apache Indians, which would result in their complete 
subjugation, and stated that if I succeeded in obtaining a quai'tz-mill for Arizona the 
enterprise should be protected. With this ample assurance, I went to Philadelphia 
and negotiated with a number of gentlemen, who organized a company under the name 
of the "Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company." Of this company I was made the gen­
eral superintendent. 

The company raised the sum of $77,000 at that time, with which I was instructed to 
purchase a 20-stamp quartz-mill, a 40-horse-power engine, 26 wagons, 268 mules, and 
harness, provisions, tools, &c., which abont absorbed that amount. 

My train being ready, on the 28th of February, 1865, I started from Leavenworth 
City, Kans., having with me thirty-five men. 

About August 1 we were attacked at Navajo Springs, in Arizona, and lost twenty-six 
mules. The train reached Prescott about September 1, 1865. Arizona had been trans­
ferred to the Department of the Pacific during my absence, and General Mason was 
then in command of the district. He gave me every assurance of military protection. 
My mill was the first in the Territory, and the whole community, as well as the civil 
and military authorities, were anxious to see it erected and in operation. I decided 
to put the mill on the Bully Bueno mine. General Mason gave me twenty-one soldierg 
to escort the train to the mine. The day after they joined the train th~ Indians at­
tacked us, killed one man, and captured twelve mules. We were about two weeks 
in reaching the Bully Bueno mine, and had some fighting with these Indians every 
day. 

About the 1st of September, 1865, we reached the mine and unloaded. On that day 
the Indians captured our entire beef-herd of twenty-two head of cattle. The next 
clay the empty train started for Prescott, the escort accompanying it. When one mile 
from the mine, at Pine Flat, the Indians attacked us, killed one teamster, captured 
eight mules, and burned one wagon. The train reached Prescott, where the military 
escort was withdrawn. The train was then en route for Fort Mojave for feed. I ap­
p1 ied for an escort, but was refused because of the scarcity of men. 

On the road to Mojave the train was attacked at Hualapai Springs, where the 
[ndians captured eleven mules. The next day, at BeaU Springs, the Indians captured 
four mules and one horse. I loaded the train at Fort Mojav~ with barley and returned 
to Prescott. 

On the military reservation at Fort Whipple we lost seven mules while unloading 
the train, and while in Camp Prescott, within two weeks of this time, we had about 
one hundred mules stolen by the Indians, but I cannot give the exact dates or the 
number taken each time an attack was made, but we lost about one hundred mules 
between November 15 and December 15, 1865. 

At the mine I had started eleven men at work on the mill, who were attacked on 
the afternoon of October 4 and driven off. Some took 1·efuge at Walnut Grove and 
others at Prescott. I then employed a larger force, and again applied for troops to be 
stationed at the mill during that winter, as but few men could be engaged for that 
purpose, owing to the extreme danger, at that time, from the Indians. 

During that winter we had about fifty mules stolen from the mills by the Indians, 
while our teams, which were freighting on the road from the Colorado River to Pres­
cott, were frequently attacked by them and lost wagons and mules. 

From the time I reached Arizona, in September, 1865, until March, 1866, the Indians, 
captured, in all, two hundred and seven mules, which had cost from $200 to $250 each 
in Missouri. 

On the 9th of February the Indians attacked our camp at Bully Bueno, drove off the 
men, killed two, and wounded one. General Mason sent over a surgeon and a company 
of troops, who remr.ned about one week and were withdrawn. I then increased our 
force to about forty men and left them, coming to Philadelphia in May, 1866, andre­
turned to Arizona about August 1. 

During my absence the Indians had captured about twenty head of anima.ls. In 
October, 1866, I sedti from San Pedro, Cal., a train loaded with provisions, which wae 
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captured by the Indians at Agua. Frio, ten miles from the Bully Bueno mine. }1h·o 
teamsters were 1illed and about forty animals taken. 

In November, 1866, I went to Philadelphia, and as all efforts to have a military camp 
established at our mill had failed, I went to sec General Grant at 'Vashiugton, to wbont 
I represented our situation, and who promised to instrnct General McDowell (the u 
commanding the Department of the Pacific) to extend such aid to us as was possiblt•, 
and to establish n, military camp at our mill. This wa~ never clone. During my absence 
at this periou Maj. E. W. Coffin was superintendent of the company's operations in 
Arizona. 

At Los Angeles, Cal., in June! 1867, I bought about seventy head of mules and horses 
and six wagons, and loaded them with provisions and merchandise, and started them 
for Prescott. Tile train had trouble with the Indians all the way, anc1 rcacllcd the 
mine after losing a number of animals. The day after their arrival the Indians cap· 
tured every animal belonging to the company and killed tho herders. This caused 
a total suspension of operations, as we conld purchase no teams in Arizona at that 
time. Mnjor Coffin abandoned the enterprise and returned to Philadclpllia, I having 
in the mean time remained in San Francisco. 

On hearing of this d.isa2ter I at once went to Prescott, and applied to General Gregg 
for soldiers to protect the property, but without result. I employed a force of men to 
guard the mill, and left them there during that winter, and came to Philadelphia. 

During the following March, 1868, I returned to Prescott, and as the men I had left 
were unwilling to remain longer, I made an application to General Devin (thert com­
manding the district) for soldiers, representing that I could not secure an adequate 
force of men to protect the property. He could spare no soldiers, so I employed thir­
teen men, which were all I could obtain for that purpose, and left tbe mill in t.heir 
charge. We had abont eleven head of mules and horses stolen by the Indians about 
this time, March 2, 18GB, on the Hassayampa, while en t·oute to Wickenburg. The 
Indian troubles new bec3.me so great that we conld not carry on operations, and our 
only object was to guard the property from destruction. These men remained in 
charge until July 9, 1869, when a large force of Indians attacked the premises and 
burned the mill, store· house, saw-mill, superintendent's house, boarding· house, black­
smith and carpenter shops, and stables, destroying the machinery, tools, and supplies, 
together with all of tllo books, papers, and accounts. 

The expense incurred by the company up to this time had amounted to $292,800. 
I was their general superintendent fi·om the time of its organization up to the time of 
the destruction of the mill. 

I am well assured that this enterprise would have never been undertaken had it not 
been for the military protection which was promised, and I am satisfied that if that 
protection bad been afforded my operations in behalf of the company would llave been 
entirely successful. 

GEO. H. VICKROY. 
Subscribed and sworn to before me January 6, 1872. 
[SEAL.] R. J. MEIGS, Clerk. 

By R. J. MEIGS, JR., Assistant Clerk, 

B. 

~ffidavit of Jarnes A. Flanagan. 

I, James A. Flanagan, of Johnstown, Pennsylvania, being thirty-ftve years of age, 
npon being duly sworn, depose and say: I assumed -the superintendence of the 
Bully Bueno mine and mill, situated on Turkey Creek, within sixteen miles :>f Pres­
cott, Ariz., on the 15th day of March, A. D. U:l68. At that time the Indiars were 
veryhostile, daily committing depredations in that vicinity. I applied to General 
Devin, commanding that district, for military protection, as there was a large amount 
of valuable property at the mill, and I could not employ a sufficient number of citizens 
to protect it, owing to the extreme danger of Indians. General Devin frequently told 
me he was well aware of the necessity of a stronger guard at the mill, but being short 
of men, could not spare anv soldiers, but promised from time to time to send me an ad­
equate guard, so soon as h'e could possibly spare troops from Fort Whipple. I made, 
through Capt. J.P. Hargrave, of Prescott, the company's attornPy. freC)_uent applica­
tions 10 the commanuer of the district for military protection, as the danger became 
more imminent. I kept at the mill as strong a force of citizens as I could possibly em­
ploy all the time. The working forco at the mill and mine was from forty to seventy 
men. On the 9th day of July, 1869, the Indians attacked the premises in force, and 
compelled us to abandon the place and seek refuge at Prescott, sixteen miles distant, 
the nea1·est military post, after which they burned the buildings, consisting of a mill· 
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'building, 1130 Ly 200 fc.nt square, a. saw-mill and builrling, carpenter-shop, blacksmith­
shop, st&I'e-house, boardiug-honso, superintendent's house, and all tho merchandise 
:and p1ovisions also the wagons, harness, tools, &c. These buildings were all large 
fine houses. J\othing whatever escaperl destruction in the attack which could be 
burned excert wlu:t. merchandise and stock the Indians carried off. I bad entire su­
rorintendence of the books and acconnls during this time, which were all burned. 
Tlle company had expendell in this enterprise a fraction over $292,000. The Bully 
Bueno mine is one of the best on the Pacific coast, and would, if worked, yield a very 
large product of gold. The mine is wdl opened and developed, and will furnish an 
inexhaustible amount of rich pay rock. 'Ibis was the principal mining enterprise in 
Arizona, and its destruction was a calamity to the whole Territory. 

JAMES A. FLANAGAN. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, at Johnstown, Pa., this thirtieth day of October, 
A.. D., one thousand eight hundred and seventy-one 

[SEAL.] GEORGE T. SWENCK, 
Prothonota1·y of District Court of Cambria County. 

c . 

.Affidavit of A. H. Boomer. 

The undersigned, A. H. Boomer; am thirty-seven years old. I was employed by G. 
H. Vickroy as wagon mastur in February, 1865, to take a mule-train, consisting of 
twenty-six wagons hauled by ten mules each. I arrived at Prescott, Ariz., in 
August, 1865, with the train, and was furnished by General Mason, then commanding 
that district, a military escort, who remained with the train about two we~ks, and 
until I arrived at the Bully Bueno mine, during which time we were attackP-d three 
times by Indians. The wagons under my charge were loaded with a 20 stamp quartz­
mill weighing96,000 pounds, and about 60,000 pounds of tools, provisions, &c. After 
unloading the train I was directed by the superintendent of the company to go tQ 
l''ort Mojave, one hundred anrl sixty miles distant, for barley, and applied at l!'ort 
Whipple for a military escort, but was unable to procure one. On my way to Fort 
Mojave was attacked twice by Hualapai Indians in large force, and lost fifty-seven 
mules and two horses, and was compelled to abandon four wagons. We struggled 
along through the winter, making every effort to erect the mill and haul in feed and 
supplies, but •wery team stationed at the mill was run off by Indians, and in March, 
1866, Mr. Vickroy, the superintendent, became discouraged, and as he could neither 
employ citizens to protect the property, nor obtain military prot('ction, I was directed 
to take the train to California, consisting then of only six wagons and fifty-three 
mules, tho balance all having been captured by the Indians. Mr. Vickroy overtook 
me on the road in California, accompanied by four of the men who had been employed 
guarding the property at the mine, and reported that the Indians had attacked the 
premises, driving off the force of eleven men and killing four, and burning the two 
houses. We sold the remainder of the train to William H. Hardy, and Mr. Vickroy 
and myself came to New York. 

ALEXANDER H. BOOMER. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this 27th day of November, 1871. 
[SEAL.] JOSEPH BROWNE, 

Clerk of CouTt. 

D . 

.Affidavit of Thomas H. Gibbunl. 

The unc1ersignec1, Thomas H. Gibbons, whose residence is Elgin, Ill., testifies as 
follows: I wa.s employed by G. H. Vickroy, at Denver, Colo., in May, 1865, to go to 
Arizona with the quartz-mill belonging to a Philadelphia company known at that 
time as the ·walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, as book-keeper. I joined the mule­
train, consisting of twenty-six wagons, at Grey's Ranch, in Colorado, and traveled 
with the train to the Bully Bueno mine, situated sixteen miles from Prescott, Ariz. 
The first attack made upon the train by Indians was at Navajo Springs. A large force 
of mounted Inc:lians attacked the herd while grazing a mile from the wagons, but in 
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~WI of Tl&oma .meL 

J)eponent Ia t~-fc,u ,..an old; bom at Milwaukee; Wia. • restaee at 1628 Hal 
etreet Chi~ I u employed at Leavenworth City, Kans., on the 17th of 

, 1i'iS.: bJ' G: J!. Vickroy, superintendent of the Walnut Grove Gold~Mlning 
~' !iifi :rematned ip th.U employ until August, 1869. We left Leavenworth on 

t:jtfi::'J!i:~-:~ai'Jl: 186&, with a mule-train consisting of twentr-six teil-m le teams. 
PA'bOitt··_tllle 1A ofA.q;Jtuaf;, 18t6, at Navajo Springs, Ariz., the train was attatked by Jn .. 

niultba1 m tlie ioleof,wenty-Ux mules. At ihe Point of Boob, aixmUee from 
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Prescott, a military ~scort of twenty-one men joined the train. We were attacked 
several times by the Indians, and had one teamster killed and twelve mules stolen 
between there and Bully Bueno mine. We there unloaded the machinery and mer­
chandise. On the way back to Prescott the Indians captured one wagon and team of 
eight mules. About the 1st of November, Hl65, we started for Fort Mojave, to bring 
in a load of feed and supplies. I went with the wagon-master, A. H. Boomer, to the 
commander of the post at fort Whipple for a military escort, which was refused us. At 
Hualapai Springs the Indians attacked us and captured eleven loose mules. At BeaU 
Springs we were again attacked, losing four mules and one horse. We returned with 
tho train to Prescott about the middle of December, 1865. We again applied for a mili­
tary escort and were again refused. The train went back to Fort Mojave. I was in 
Prescott when the first party was driven away from the mill at the Bully Bueno mine, 
about the 4th of October, 1865. I was at the Bully Bueno on the 9th February, 1866, 
when the Indians drove us off and killed two of our party and burned one of the 
houses. I was with Thomas ~Gibbons about the 20th of October, 1866, at Fort Rock, 
when the Indians attacked a train of six wagons, which the company had sent in from 
San Perlro, Cal. In that fight we lost thirteen mules and had one man fatally 
wounded. Gibbons and I left the train at Prescott, and went across the mountain to 
the mill by the trail. The train went round by the wagon-road, and was all captured 
and five men killed when within ten miles of the Bully Bueno. There were se\·en fine 
buildings erected at the mine, a mill building, 160 by 200 feet, a saw-mill, a blacksmith 
and carpenter shop, a store-house and three dwelling-houses. I was there in August, 
1~67, when Major Coffin came in from California with a mule-train of about sixty 
mules, which were all captured by the Indians the day after his arrival. While I was 
in Arizona the Indians killed seventeen men employed by the company, and captured 
or killed about two hundred mules, and burned about ten wagons belonging to the 
company. On the night of the 9th of July, 1869, the Indians attacked t.he premises, 
then in charge of James A. Flanagan, and drove off the entire force and burned every 
building at the place, together with all the wagons, out-buildings, lumber, &c. 

I have had several years' experience in the gold mines of Colorado, New Mexico, 
and Arizona. I think $300,000 is a low estimate of the losses of this company in 
Arizona by Indian depredations. 

THOMAS RICH. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this 7th day of December, 1871. 
[SEAL.] JOHN H. PECK, 

Nota1·y Pubtic. 

F. 

Statement of Edward W. Coffin, of Camden County, State of New Jm·sey. 

In May, 1866, I was appointed superintendent of the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Com­
pany, of Turkey Creek, Yavapai County, Territory of Arizona, and on the 1st of June fol­
lowing left New York for San Francisco, en route for that place, to assume charge of the 
company's property; Mr. George H. Vickroy, the former superintendent, accompanied. 
me. At Los Angeles, Cal., we purchased the necessary teams, provisions, &c., for 
the journey, and about the first of the following August reached our destination. 
Having completed the necessary arrangements I immediately commenced the erectiou 
of a 20-stamp quartz-mill, which bad been previously brought into the Territory by 
Mr. Vickroy, with the necessary buildings, &c., which were finished about the close of 
the yenr, notwithstanding we were almost daily troubled by the Indians (Apaches), 
in killing men, running off stock, harassing our supply-trains, &c., and which caused 
a vast increase in the cost of our enterprise. As they had stolen a large part of the 
stock in that part of the Territory, as well as our own, it was impossible for me to ob­
tain teams to haul rock to the mill, and obliged me to return East and obtain more 
money to enable me to purchase an(Jther outfit of teams, wagons, &c., in California, 
and to supply our mill. With that object I started East about the 1st January, 1867. 
When I first assumed charge of the mine I was assured we should receive military pro­
tection, and while I was in Arizona I made numerous applications and bad an many 
promises of protection from the military authorities, but with the exception of one 
escort for two or three days, I ne-ver succeeded in obtaining the least protection. In 
the fall of H~66, some time before starting East, I addressed a communication to Lieu­
tenant-General Grant, which was indorsed by influential parties in Philadelphia, 
urgently requesting that a military camp might be formed in the vicinity of the mill 
for our protection. This letter was presented to General Grant by Mr. Vickroy, and I 
have understood he inst,rncted General McDowell, then in command of the Department 
of the Pa.cific, to establish such a camp; but it was never done and we had to depend 



and.aubecribed to befo1-e me, this 27th day of December, A. D.1871. 
] J. A. LOUGHRIDGE, 

· Protkou,.,.,. 

G. 



pr,otlerty at tile mine. con&i&ted of the mill-building"' ith mnobiaory 
ing oro, all m mnlring Ol'der, oiroular saw for sa ing lumber, 
iog·bo&ee,~ 4fll' and tool-houae, and other buildings, both at the 

.I hJave uo beaitation in eayiug that the failure of the enterprise :as 
hffiltiliti~a and tho conseq ueut insecurity of life and propel'ty in tb1r1ot <!Xl!IOS€'1<1 lllittltatikm.'fi~] 
t}lat the 1 of the oompaay mast hav.e been very heavy, and the finlidt'llest;ruc:tMIQ 
the mall in 1989 ie a death-blew to the enterprise-for the pl'e86nt; hacl. IJ~:;~!III 

been for 'theimp088ibility of the companf'a proseoutiDg the work on ·~~::J:!~=~~~~~~­
hostilities and waat 9f millitary protectaon, the mill would have paicl handaom~ 
the beginning. 

RICHARD GIBn; 

Subecribed and awem to before me, this 16th day of January, A. D. 1872. 
[BJW..] L. S. B. 

Cleri tJfl4 Co~MAiBBioner U•ited States 
NiratA Ctrcttil, .m.tnoe~fi(of'lifllllt~ 

enough t-o haul for the 
at we found the f)Ountry so overrun, in thelower 
preclude tho possibility of starMng up the mill, which ha been forced to 
attackA of the Indians, and that Mr. Vickroy's mole-trains, which we:re the 
the Territory t ha(l fallen a sacrifice to the disturbed condition of the 
Viekroy conla not replace his mules, as there were no animal It for sale in the oo~ilnlll)t~~il 
He appealed to General Gregg for troop& to guard the mill, bnt General 
not•ble to spare them. Mr. Vickroy then employed what men he coald 
mill and ther fld~ and he and myself returned to Califomia, after 

1 month~ a.nd fot11 convinced tliat the number of soldiers in the TeJ7itiDry 
totally i11adequate to the. ~tioa -of life and property. Mr. Vickroy had 
to ran his mifl that winter, and prepat'ed to do 10 at a very heavy expense, bar 
loll8 of his mule-trains made it impo81lble to replaee them. 

CHARLES HARLA 

Subscribed and swom to befOl'e me, thiS 16th da7 of .l&DBal'f, A. D., -,--.._~c-_,_-__ 
[BJW..] L. 8. B. 

C'Ziri au Oo••tuiot~er U.MIId 8tt1tt1 
.Nifltla CWIHI, DWirial Cai~U~rtac!~~· 

L 

..41Jt10t1H of Cl!Grla A.lltrt6fldittgttr. 

t, Charles Allmendinger, am twenty-seven years of age; reside at N-o. 434 
Seoond street, Phil&delphia. 

On February 12,1867,1 left NewYorkforArizonawithG. H.Viokroy, by 
:employed as assayer. We aniv&d in Arizona about the middle of AprU. II:~~~~ 
Arizona olfo year. DurinA the tim& I was there the Indians committed d 
Dearly every week. Wehad no protection from the military authorities, 

ere frequently promised aid. There were eleven of our men. killed while 
While I wattthero the Walnut Grove Mining Company sustained heavy 

· dt>.predatioos, loaing a great number of mules and horaee. 
ala1 with G. H. Vickroy in Los Angeles and San Bernardino, " -... ~"lO'~~NI 

~.,,,,.,1·111BI200 eaeh · gold. Theae same mulee wereaftuwardoa}J~~-
J:L .Kep. 1083-~ 
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by the Indians while I was in the Territory. The country being overrun by Indians, 
it was impossible to carry on successful mining operations without the aid of the mili­
tary. 

Alt,hongh strenuous efforts were made by the military to suppre:o~s Indian depreda· 
1ions, they did not succeed. Had the military been successful thc3 losses of our com· 
pany woulcl have been inconsiderable. Had it not been for the Indians this mining 
tnterprisc would have been a great success, and been the means of developing that 
w lwle district of country. 

I left Arizona in April, 1868, owing to the danger from Indians. I have been well 
informed as to the condition of things in Arizona since I left there, and beard of the 
lmruiug of the mill and other buildingl!l soon after it occurred in July, 1869. 

From what I have seen of mining operations I do not think the losses of this com­
pnny at the Bully Bueno mine wero less than$300,000. 

I have been employed by two other companies as assayer. The Bully Bueno mine, 
if sueeessfnlly worked, is considered the best in Arizona. 

CHAS. ALLMENDINGER. 

Sworn and snbf.!cribed befOJ.e me, prothonotary of the court of common pleaB, this 
141 h <lay of December, 1871. 

[SEAL.] J. A. LOUGHH~DGE, 
Prothonotary Court of Commo·n Plea1. 

K. 

~ffidavit of Richard C. Bates. 

Richard C. Dates, of Haddonfield, Camden County, New Jersey, upon :first being 
<lnly sworn, deposes and says: I am thirty-five years of age; I left Philadelphia on 
tho lOth cl<l·Y of April, l8j7, in the employ of Maj. E. W. Coffin, superintendent of 
the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, my destination being the BnllyBueno mine, 
sixteen miles from Prescott, Ariz.;whcrotbe said company was carrying on mining, and 
had erected a 20-st.amp quartz-mill and six other buildings. Major Coffin bought a 
mule-train in California, of which I took charge, and started, with three wagons, from 
San Pedro, on the 21st day of June, 1867. Thes'3 wagons were loaded with about 
$11,000 worth of merchandise. I experienced a great deal of trouble on the road to 
Prescott from Indians, as they had poisoned some of the water-holes on tho road and 
made several attacks, and we were greatly delayed on the trip. I arrived with 
the train at the Bully Bueno mine on about the 6th of August, 1867. The next 
day we had a fight with Indians at the mill. I then took the mules, and also the 
horses that were at the mill, to the company's farm, where, on the 13th of Au­
gust, 1867, the Indians attacked us, killed one man, and drove off all the stock. I 
was on the herd that day myself. The Indians were hauging around the mill all the 
time, stealing every article chancing to be within their reach, and killing men and 
running off' stock during all the time I was there. It was impossible to travel, haul 
in supplies, or work the mine without military protection, which the company never 
got while I was in Arizona. Major Coffin was totally unable to purchase any teams 
to carry on the work without going back to California, and as he had never been able 
to secure military protection he had scarcely any hope of keeping any stock at that 
time. He went to Philadelphia in August, 1867, leaving about :fifteen men to guard 
the mill. I remained there in the employ of the company. We did not attempt to 
work the mine that winter, as it was necessary for all the force at the mill to protect 
it, and even then we never felt safe. No further work was carried on. It was very 
difficult to employ men to guard .the mill, as the Indians were getting more danger­
ous every day, emboldened by their many successes. On the 9th of July, 1869, they 
attacked the mill, and the party stationed there being too small to hold out against 
the Indians, they drove off the fbrce, some going to Prescott and some to Walnut 
Grove. They burned the mill and all the other buildings and destroyed all the prop­
erty they did not carry off. I returned to my present residence in le69. 

RICHARD C. BATES. 
W1tnesses: 

EDWARD C. SHINN, 
RommT BATES. 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY, 
Camden County, 88: 

Sworn and subscribed by the said Richard C. Bates before me, this 18th day of 
December, A. 0.1871. Witness my hand and official seal. 

fSE.~L.J JOHN W CAIN, Cler$, 



L. 

~jJiidavit of E. WinslOtD Coffi•· 

E. Winslow Coffin, residing at Glendale, Camden County, New Jersey, upon fi.rst be­
ing duly sworn, deposes and says: I was employed in May, 1866, by the Walnut Grove 
Gold-Mining Company of Arizona as book-keeper My"father, Edward W. Coffin, being 
superintendent,! accompanied him to that Territory, arriving there about Angn&t 1, 
1866. Previous to our leaving Philadelphia the superintendent was instructed to pro­
ceed to investigate the case, and if, in his opinion, it was safe to erect the mill and 
prosecutetheoperationsofthecompany, to do so; if not, to store the machinery, mer­
chandise, &c., belonging to the company. Af~r due consultation with the military 
and civil authorities of the Territory, and upon full assurance that we were to be pro­
tected by the military force of the district, we commenced the erection of the mill. 
The superintendent reported to the company in Philadelphia that he had secured 
promises of protection thali satisfied him, anc..l, as the mine was rich and the facilities 
for working it good, he would proceed to operate the enterprise at once. He drew on 
the company for moneys, and sent to San Francisco for a full stock of provisions, chem­
icals, supplies, mules, wagons, &c. In the mean time we employed a force of about 
forty men, and commenced the erection of the mill and other necessary buildin~s. We 
depended upon pack-animals to supply us until the supplies from San FranciSCO ar­
rived. 

Scarcely a week passed that we were not molested by Indians, and all this time mak­
ing earnesi appeals to the commander of the district tor protection, and received many 
promises of aid. One train, when within ten miles of the mill, was attacked by In­
dians, and three teamsters killed and the whole train captured. I spent two weeks 
riding over the country endedovoring to employ teams to haul our ore to the mill, which 
was then ready to commence crnsbing, and succeeded in securing teams at two different 
times, but on both occasions Indians prevented the fulfilment of their contract. It 
was impossible to ~etthe ore to the mill (halfamile)without teams. After all these 
disasters, and the failure to establish a military camp at our mill, Edward W. Coffin 
came East, leavinJt me in charge of the enterprise. He returned in the following July, 
having secured more means to prosecute the enterprise. During the superintendent's 
absence several men were kil1ed, and all our mules and horses captured by Indians. 
A few days after his return the superintendent returned to Phi1adelphia again, and 
left mo to run the mill durin~ his absence. I had thirty-four head of mules and horses, 
but within two days after his departure the Indians attacked and captured every one 
of them, and killed the herders. After this misfortune I employed nine men aDd left 
them in charge of the mill, and started to San Ji"rancisco to put myself in communi­
cation with the company. Soon after I was ordered to return. and arrived in Phila- . 
delphia in November, 1~67. The expenses of the company were about $300,000, and 
the buildinge erected at the Bully Bueno mine, ~nd which were burned July 9, 1869, 
by Indians, were very valuable. 

E. WlNSLOW COFFIN. 
Sworn and subscribed before me, this 28th day of May, 1872. 
[sEAr~.] J. A. LOUGHRIDGE, 

Protlwnotarg of the Court of Commcm Pleat for the CUg an(J Cnntg of Philadelphfa. 

.Afftda'Vit of 8. 8. Grant. 

8. S. Grant, or Saint Louis, Mo., being duly sworn, ·deposes and says On Decem· 
ber 7, 1864, I sold to George H. Vickroy, superintendent of the Walnut Grove Gold­
Mining Company, of Arizona, one hundred mules at $200 each, four mules at $250 
each, three horses at $250 each, and one horse at $200, and one horse at t275 • that 
said mules and horses were fully worth the amounts paid to me; and that after I made 
said contract to deliver said stock to George H. Vickroy I could have sold the same 
for more money, as prices were daily advancing. That on Jan nary 26, 1865, I sold to 
George H. Vickroy t.he balance of the moles for the said company, to transport their 
wagons to Arizona, at $'.l50 each, and that all of the said mules were fully worth the 
prices paid by said company to me at the time of said sales. 

S. S. GR.lNT. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me, this the 9th day ofNovemberz..1872. 
[&BAL.] WASHINGTON HE~DRICKS, 

Notary Publio of Saint Lou.i8 Cow•tr, JlwowC. 
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N. 

To the honorable the Senaie and House of RepJ·esentativea of the United States in Congresa 
as1embled: 

Your petitioners, citizens of the States of Pennsylvania and New Jersey, respectfully 
represent that they a.re the trustees of a mining company organized in the year 1864) 
and known at that time as the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, of Arizona. The 
individuals composing said company having, at the time above mentioned, full writ~ 
ten assurances from General .James H. Carlton, then commanding the Military District 
of Arizona and New Mexico, that should we send to the Territory of Arizona a quartz. 
mill, machinery, supplies, &c., for opening and working onr mines, we should have 
ample military protection and support, as at that time the Government of the United 
States, as well as the citizens of the Territory, were anxious to aid and assist any en· 
terprise looking to the settlement of the country and the development of its rich min~ 
eral resources, at heavy expense, as the accompanying affidavits and papers will 
show, we equipped au expedition most thronghly with everything necessary to insure 
the success of the enternrise. 

Our C]_uartz and saw ~mills, steam-engine, boilers, mule-train, &c., finally arrived 
at its destination in September, 1t:l65, sixteen miles from Prescott, the thoo seat of gov­
erument of the Territory. Up to this date our expenditures had been about $100,000, 
exclusive of the mines and lands upon which the mills and other improvements wert\ 
located. 

And we .further represent that our ag--·n ts had repeated assurances of military pro 
tcction from the several military officers who commanded that district during om• 
efforts to maintain our operation~ there, and that said assurances of protection from 
Indian depredations inducetl us to continue to contribute money from time to time1 
during fonr years, as often as the Indians robbed us of our property and obstructed om 
operations, until July 9, 4.. D. 1869, when the Indians made their final attack, driving 
otf the men in cilarge of tile property, and burning the mill and other buildings, to­
gether with all the wagons, mining-tools, chemicals, and supplies, which, at that tim~ 
ba<l cost tile company ttbout$300,000. 

Your petitioners further represent that they would not have undertaken this enter 
prise in tho first instance bnt for tile guarantee of protection from the then distriet. 
commauder, nor wonhl w·e have continued to expend our means after each succeeding 
Indian raid bnt for the renewed assurances of protection from the military authori­
ties in Arizona. And we furtilcr represent that we now desire to resume operations 
at our mines, and that a flonrisiling settlement has grown up in that vicinity (the set· 
tiers having been attracted there by the wealth of newly-discovered gold-mines), and 
that we now feel safe in rebuilding and commencing operations. And we further re­
spectfully represent tilat a number of tile original subscribers to this enterprise in~ 
vested all they could command in it, on the strength of the assurances of the protection 
above recited, and are unable to meet further assessments on tilem. 

·we therefore most respectfully petition Congress to reimburse our said company 
for the losses sustained from tile said Indian ouLrages, believing our claim right and 
equitable, and tilat the GoYernment will, in a few years, be amply remunerated by 
the development of that district of the Territory, wilich will doubtless be tile result1 
of the rebuilding onr mill and working the mines. 

The principal mine which we own, and upon which our mill and buildings were 
erected, is known as the Bully Bueno mine, and is one of the best known, and, we be. 
lieve, one of tile richest in tile Territory. 

PnrLADELPIIIA, PA., Decembm· 27, 1871. 

J. G. FELL, 
EDWARD HOOPES, 
GEORGE BURNHAM, 

T1·ustees. 

ilOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
Washington, D. C., Janum·y8, 1872. 

As governor of the Territory of Arizona, resident at Prescott at the time this company 
entered upon its important enterprise, I am familiar with many of the facts set forth 
in the foregoing statement. I am aware that the company, at heavy expense, brought. 
to the Territory exttmsive antl valuable machinery, and counted upon military pro­
tection in its effort to develop one of ~he most promising gold-lodes; that said pro­
tection was not provided, and that for want of it th~ Indians, bein~ active and in· 
creasing in their:hostilities, tb~ company was constantly embarrassed m its operations, 
and ultimately suffered the complete loss of its machinery, buildings, &c., &c., ai 
their hands. 

1 co:qside:r the claim for relief by Congress just and entitled to prompt consideratio~ 
R. C. McCORMICK, 

Delegate from ~NQn"-





)lllaller machinery were o6mpletely destroyed. l do uot think that aQy of the mao 
chiuery can be used for any purpose except that above enumerated, and probably a 
great deal of that cannot be made serviceable..- When we rebuild thQ mill I think it 
would be better to havt:' everything new, and not depend on any of the above-men­
tioned machinery, as I do not believe it will be true and in working order. I will 
leave here in a short time, and)ust so soon as I can will be in Philadelphia and tell 
7eu much better than I can wr1te it. 

Yours, very respectfully, 
JAMES .A.. FLANAGAN. 

Q. 

PRESCOTT, ARTZ., 8f!!)tf"mhr l.l, 1869. 
m the matter of Basham snit against your company, we had an appraise­

of such pJOperty as was uo~ destroyed by the Indians at the Bully B~nq, 





01!' PENNSYLV .ANIA, 
City and Oovnty of Philadelphia, 88: 

C. E. Morgan, jr., a. notary public of the State of Pennsylvania, residing in the 
(-fl1~~eaid . Clty and county, do hereby certify that Edward Hoopes, who subscribed to 

th,e::fi()te2()ilng; affidavit, and affirmed to the same personally, appeared before me, in 
city county, and having first been duly affirmed according to law, did depose 
say that the foregoing affidavit was, in every respect, just and true. 

EDWARD HOOPES. 

Alftrmed and subscribed to before me this 12th day of Aogttst, A. D., 1873. 
[SEAL.j C. E. MORGAN, JR., 

_:Notary PubZio. 

8. 



DISTRICT 01!' COLUMBIA, 
Wuhington County,": 

On this 12th day of June, A. D. 1873, before me, the subscriber, a justice 
peace in and for the county aforesaid, personally appeared Wiggo M. 
being sworn according to law. did depose and say that the several sta~teJIIleJ~r~*! 
tained in the foregoing deposition, and hereto annexed, are Just and true~ 
of his knowledge and belief. 

Sworn and subscribed before me. 
[SEAL.] 

from 
rented my stable and corral. Doring the he was pr€~pa.riiltgjio 

zona, nearly two months, he kept his mules in my stable , 
nearly every day. He had about tw·o hundred and sixty mules. I was at 
buying mules, and was familiar with the prices. J do not think I ever 
lot of mules, and know they would have 8old readily for from two .uu.uu~··IDU ··~. Jl·!!' 
hundred and fifty dollars each in Leavenworth at that time. I do not thi 
was a mule in the train that would not bring at auction two hundred 

B. F. 
J)ISTJUCT QJ' COLUMBIA, 

CM'f of W atlailtg.to.n, f8: 

om .and aubeoribed before me tbis ~let day of March, A.. :0. 187:1. 
JOHN H. JOHNSON, 

.Tustioo of the 

v. 
I, Bodine Peterson, am 33 years of age, and at present reside at the comer of 

Del Kt. Vemon streets, Philadelphia. In the summer of 1866 I was in 
Ariz., and was employed by .Major Coffin, superintendent of the Walnut 
llining Company, to assist in the erection of a 20-stamp quartz-mill on Tn· .. tT ... VTh>i 

in that Territory. The mill had been brought into the Territory by 
Vickroy. I remained in the employment of the company over a 
time the Indians were very troublesome, and the company ~--~··~-.~~-
the constant interruption of their busineBB, besides the immense losestiStlflin.ed.bl: 
killing and running off of their live stock. A. number of the employ6s of 

were killed in the discharge of their duty while I was employed 
and others before I went into the country and after I left it. I know 

protection was promised the superintendent, but, to my knowledge, 
aeOeed.ed in obtaining it in a single fDBtance. 

I was not in a position to enabfe me to know t.he amo11nt of 1088 sustained 
;!;.<:.;'ik,00111Pllll~r, bttt it must have been very heavy, and I am entirely satisft.ed if 
~~:);;/~~~~!~~~· protection had been furnished the greater part or all of it 

av.Jiluo~Ao and the mine ( whioh is douJnleaa very rich) would hav&l»t41Ul'IMI 
;;:.:;;<!~:to ·••otit. 



BODINE C. ~ETEBSON. 

w. 
OJ' Mtssoum, 

6'outJiy of Saifat LouiB, 88: 
B. Slack, of Saint Louis, Mo., aged fifty-three years, by occupation a oarpen· 

upon being sworn before the clerk of the county court of Saint Lonil 
as follows: 

~
~~~~~~ mule-train of the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company, at the Poini 

miles from Prescott, Ariz., about the 15t11 of September, 1865, and assisted 
road t'rom there to the Bully Bueno Mine, where I then resided. AfteJ 
mine we immediately commenced preparations for the erection of the 

amP:f:ltU•rtz mill, saw-milJ,_ and other buildings. I took the contract for getting 
for both miua, and after filling my contract I continued in the em· 

~eoompa'Dy nearly four years, until the mill8 and other buildin~ were burned 
Indians in J9-ly, 1869. 

uamined the schedule of property destroyed, filed by the company in 
Executive Document No. 95 Forty-second Congress, third session, and can 

~ .. .._ .... ..,lftll; tively that the charge for buildings is not exorbitant. I went to California in 
remained in th.e mining districts of the Pacific coast until 1871, and am 

f:;~;i~~~; the cost of erecting buildings and machinery, and in no instance in an 
'-~' of22 years have known a 20-stamp mill inclosed in a suitable building, aa 

at a cost as little as $118,000. 
buildings in said schedule are estimated at less than the selling price of th.ft 

and had this company's affairs been managed with the usual prodi· 
PX'I&cticed in mining countries, the cost of the buildings would have lteen two 

pater • 
. ·J1!l addiltio'n to the economy used. the com~y brought with tbem from the Statea 

own teams, tools, and supplies, and many of tlieir workmen, which, togethe1 
the saw-mill, enabled them to do their :work for easily one-half what ,;_t would 
oost if they had given it out b' contr t. 

on tD.e ground during most of the time of their operations in Arizona, and feel 
fiom my own pe'rsop.al knowledge, that their claim as itemized in said 

and reasonable, and can name more than fifty mills in California and 
no better or no more extensive machinery, and with fewer out-build-

c.-. ... · ··--'~ those to the houses at the Bully Btteno, which have cost from double 
tiwes the amount claimed by the Walnut Grove Gold-Mining Company. 

JOHN B. SLACK. 


